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THE DEVELOPMENT OF EDUCATION IN BERWICK UPON TWEED TO 1902
by
Janet Denise Cowe
From the small schools of the late mediaeval and Tudor periods
there had developed in Berwick upon Tweed: by 1902 a most
complex and comprehensive pattern of education.

A Latin Grammar School and other Corporation Schools were:
founded by the Guild in the seventeenth century, and in 1725
private benefactors established the Charity School, which
was closely allied with Holy Trinity Parish.Church. The:
non-freemen of Berwick and the many non-Anglicam religious
groups in the town therefore determined in the nineteenth
century to found their own schools, and both the Guild and:
the Church of England congregations in their turn responded
to the challenge and extended their own provision of education.

Detailed accounts are given of the following schools:

a) the Latin Grammar School

b) the: Corporation Schools, later the Academy:

¢) seven National Schools, namely.Berwick Boys' National:
School (formerly the Charity School), Berwick Girls'
and Infants' National Schools, Whitadder Bridge National
School, St. Mary's National School, and the Tweedmouth.
and Spittal National Schools

d) the Workhouse School

e) six Nonconformist Schools, namely Kirkwood's
Lancasterian School, Spittal British School, Berwick

British. Infants's and Berwick British Schools, and



the Berwick and Tweedmouth Presbyterian Schools

f) St. Cuthbert's Roman Catholic School.
Mention is also made of the contribution of private schools,
Sunday Schools, evening classes, the Mechanics' Institute,
the School of Art and libraries.

Berwick is remarkable for the number andi great variety
of its schools, and the influence upon them of both Scottish.
and English educational practice, the result of the town's
geographical position and the presence within it of so many
distinct groups, each: working to create and sustain its

own ideal of education.
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INTRODUCTION

Berwick upon Tweed is a sturdy English markét town,
lying on the north side of the Tweed estuary,
between river and sea. It is a small town, red-
roofed, the tall town houses and shops built of
local stone. In Marygate the twice-weekly market

is shadowed by the Town Hall, an imposing
eighteenth century successor of-the mediaeval and
Elizabethan Toibooths or Guildhalls. Narrow lanes
lead down to the old Bridge and to the Quay,
remnant of a once busy port. Now the fishing

boats have gone, and the trade in barley and timber
is conducted from the nineteenth century dock on the
south side of the Tweed.

At first glance Berwick might seem to be only a
picturesque small mﬁrket town, but the evidences of
a troubled past surround it: the castle ruins on
a knoll to the north west, the fragments of
mediaeval wall, the ditches and earthworks between
the wall and the sea, and, strongest of all, the
Elizabethan ramparts and bastions, one of the
finest examples of early artillery defences anywhere
in the world. The fortifications,_andkthe large
Barracks within the town, are impressive evidence
of the strategic importance of Berwick before the

Unions of the Crowns of England and Scotland.



The first authentic mention of Berwick was in
1095 in a charter of King Edgar of Scotland, when
it was already the chief place in a Northumbrian shire,
then part of Lothian (1). It became a prosperous
town, sufficiently important to be one of the first
two recorded royal burghs of Scotiand, its wealth
fostered by a strong merchant Guild which
controlled its busy markets, woold trade and fishing
industry. From the late thirteenth century until
1482, however, Berwick suffered often in the Anglo-
Scottish Wars and its economic prosperity declined.
In 1482 it fell again into English hands and has
remained within England ever since, but in many
respects it cannot be regarded as a wholly English
town. Berwick developed an independence of spirit
and strong corporate feeling, taking what it liked
best of the customs of its former conquerors and
blending and adapting them to its needs, resisting
angrily any diminution of its freedom or ancient

privilege.

1l A.A.M.Duncan, "The Earliest Scottish Charters"
in The Scottish Historical Review,XXXVII (1958).
103-35.




In these circumstances any account of education
in Berwick must be related carefully to the history
of the town, as well as to national developments in
education. Traditional rivalries between Burgesses
and Non-freemen, Guild and Parish, English and Scots,
and Anglicans and Nonconformists were magnified and
intensified in Berwick by the nearness of Scotland.
They led to the foundation of a great number and
variety of schools within the Borough, with a -
corresponding variety of curriculum and method, in
order to meet the desires of the members of each

group and sect for the training of their children.



CHAPTER ONE
THE EVIDENCE TO 1630

Information relating to schools or schoolteachers
in mediaeval Berwick is extremely sparse, but the
evidence that does exist, together with the facts
that Berwick was a royal burgh, was very.wealthy)
and contained many churches and réligious houses;
leads to the conclusion that elementary education
in some form was established quite early in the
town's history.-

The earliest reference to a school in the district
is made in the very well-known story told by Reginald
of Durham, in the mid-twelfth century, of Haldene,

a reluctant pupil of the school held in Norham Church,
who threw the church door key into the River Tweed.
When the time came for Vespers the church could not
be opened, and a careful search for the key préved
fruitless. That night St. Cuthbert appeared in a
vision to the Vicar and told him to buy the first
draught of fishes from "Padduwel", now Pedwell, a
deep pool. Next morning, the Vicar went to the river,
bought the first catch, and recovered the lost key

from the mouth of a large salmon (1).

1 Reginaldi Monachi Dunelmensis Libellus... (Surtees

Society, I (1835), 148-51; G.G. Coulton, Scottish
Abbeys and Social Life (193%3%), 184-5.




The portion of this story that may well be
relevant to education in Berwick occurs in the
following passage:"In the aforesaid township of
.Norham ... €there is a church, founded of old in
honour of St. Cutﬁbert's name, wherein,after the
fashion that is now very customary and well-known,
boys busied themselves formerly with study ...." (1)
This indicates that the practice of having a school
conducted in the parish church was common in the
North. It is therefore reasonable to suggest that
if Norham, a small village, possessed such a school,
the town of Berwick, only eight miles away, would
surely have a similar or perhaps much larger
establishment.

In 1242 the first direct reference to education
in Berwick is found, when David de Bernham, Bishop
of St. Andrews from 1239 to 1253, had to arrange for
the reconciliation of Holy Trinity in Berwick as the
following letter explaine: "Whereas, in our time, in
the parish church of Holy Trinity in Berwick, violence

with bloodshed was inflicted by a scholar clerk of

1l "Est igitur in villa praedicta ecclesia in Beati
Cuthberti nominis honore ab antiquo fundata, in
qua, de more nunc satis solito et cognito, pueri

quondam vacabant studiis ...."



Berwick on one of his fellows, with the result
that divine services could not be celebrated in
the said church unless the remedy of the bishop's
rites was applied, we, coming to the said church,
have bestowed on it the benefit of reconciliation

according to canon law." (1) The precise meaning

1 "Cum in parechiali ecclesia sancte trinitatis
de berewic quedam violencia ad effusionem
sanguinis temporibus nostris a quodam Clerico
scolari de berewic Cuidam alii sibi consocio
esset illata nec in dicta Ecclesia celebrari
possent officia divina nisi remedium episcopalis
officii intervenisset Nos ad dictam ecclesiam
accedentes Eidem beneficium reconciliacionis
secundum iura Canonum impendimus"

(J. Raine, The History and Antiquities of North

Durham.,. (1852), Aﬁp. 89, no. cccclxxx; Charles

Wordsworth, Pontificale Ecclesiae S. Andreae

(1885), vi and xii; Proceédings of the Society

of Antiquaries of Scotland, 1885-6, XX (N.S.
VIII) (1886), 190).




of the words translated here as "scholar Clerk"
is uncertain. These clerks may have been members
of a small group of boys who were training for the
priesthood, but it is possible that they shared a
general education with other boys of the town. The
achievements of David de Bernham in becoming Bishop
of St. Andrews and Chamberlain of Scotland, and of
his brother Robert in becoming Mayor of Berwick at
least twice, strengthen the latter assumption as
the two men were members of a Berwick burgess family
and were brought up in the town. It is reasonable to
suggest therefore that adequate provision for both
religious and secular education had almost certainly
existed for many years. (1)

This supposition is strengthened by the mention only
a year later, in 1243, in a mandate of Pope Iﬁnocent
IV, of "the master of the schools of Berewic" who,
together with the archdeacon and dean of Lothian,
in thé diocese of St. Andrews, had to conclude the
examination of a suit "between the abbot and
Cistercian convent of Dundrannan and Nicholas de

Culenes, knight, and Cicely his wife,

1 Proceedings of the Society of Antiguaries of Scotland,

1885-6, XX (N.S. VIII) (1886), 191.



of the diocese of Whitehorn, touching her dower". (1)
From this it seems that the schoolmaster was a
clergyman of some importance.

A second example of this judicial function
occurred in 1279, when the subprior and sacristan
of Coldingham and the rector of the school of South

Berwick, (2) were given the task of considering the

1l Calendar of Entries in the Papal Registers....

Papal Letters, I, A.D. 1198-13%04 (1893), 199.

N.B. "master of the schools" is probably mis-
leading -~ "magister scolarum'" is more usually
translated as "master of the school" (cf. R.E.

Latham, Revised Medieval Latin Word-List...

(1965), s.v. "schola"). See also Alan Orr
Anderson, Early Sources of Scottish History...,

IT (1922), 565-6.

2 "Rector scolarum de Suthberwyc'". South Berwick
was often used for Berwick upon Tweed, 80 as to

distinguish it from North Berwick.



dispute between the Abbot and Convent of Kelso and
Walter, perpetual Vicar of the church of
"Roberdeston" (Roberton) in the diocese of Glasgow,
about the right to the tithe of sheaves of the vill
of "Roberston". Their report, in favour of the
monks, was sent to the Commissary of the Abbot of
Dunfermline, delegated judge principal by the Pope,
and was dated in the Church of Holy Trinity in
Berwick on the Monday next before the feast of St,
Martin in Winter, 1279 [ 6th November 1279]. (1)

In 1295 the Lanercost Chronicle described a
vision of ill-omen, one of sewveral that fore-
shadowed the great éiege and sack of Berwick by
Edward I in the following year. The disaster was
"made clear in an open vision manifested at Berwick
to the eye of sense before Christmas following.

For verily as some little children were hurrying
off together to school in that same city to be

taught their letters, at break of day, as is usual

1 Liber S. Marie de Calchou... (Bannatyne Club,

1846), II, no. 346.



in the winter season, they beheld with their

natural eyes (as they afterwards assured many persons)
beyond the castle, Christ extended upon the likeness
of a cross, bleeding from his wounds, and with his
face turned towards houses of the city. Time coming
was soon to show whatsoever chastisement that

[vision] indicated." (1)

1 "Hoc revelationes indicant superius notatae, hoc
etiam aperta visio declarat, quae apud Berwicum
ante subsequens natale Domini ostensa oculo
sensibili. Siguidem infantuli literis imbuéndi,
qui in eadem vilia, ut assolet hiemali tempore,
summo dildculeo ad scholas maturius convolabant,
viderunt oculis carnis, sicut multis postea
professi sunt, Christum ultra castrum in crucis
effigiem extensum, plagisque cruentatum, et vultu
versus civitatis habitacula conversum. Quamcumque
animadversionis futuram significaverit, in brevi

subsequens tempus docebit." (Chronicon de

Lanercost... (Bannatyne Club, 1834), 167). The
translation given above is from Sir Herbert

Maxwell, The Chronicle of Lanercost, 1272-1346

(1913), 124.
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The political uneasiness continuing between
Scotland and England produced in 1314, just a
few months after Bannockburn, one of the most
charming and pathetic anecdotes of mediaeval
Berwick, and one which gives a little more
information on the work of the school or schools
of the town. On 1l2th October 1314 an inquisition
was held "before Sir William de Montacute warden
of Berwick-on-Tweed, and Master John de Westone
the chamberlain of Scotland, on Saturday next
before the Translation of St. Edward king and
martyr, in the 8th year, by John of the Hall
[end 12 other jurors], whether Richard and Rolland
sons of William of Roxburgh, a burgess, were
guilty of trafficking with the Scots rebels, as
alleged by Sir Nicholas de Kyngestone. They find
that Henry de Bentley the K's coroner, issued
from the town to harass the Scots, and halted
for some time at the vill of Lamberton. It was
rumoured that he had been killed by the Scots,
and among others who hastened to the walls of
Berwick and outside, were these boys Richard and

Rolland, with another boy, a son of said Henry's.

11



They passed the gate to the field of St. Mary
Magdalene, and after playing some time, returned;
and near the towngate Richard lost his rudiment
song-book and began to cry, and for fear of his
master they all went back to the field to look
for, but could not find the book. On returning
to the town Sir Nicholas met them, asking who

they were, when they told him their father's name.
But he seized and still keeps them in custody.
Richard is 11 and Rolland 9 years old. The jurors
acquit them and append their seals...." (1) It is
to be hoped that Richard's master felt imprisonment

was punishment enough.

1 Joseph Bain, Calendar of Documents relating to

Scotland, III, 1307-1357 (1887), no. 397. The

original of "rudiment song book" is "librum

suum erudicionis de cantu" (P.R.0. C1l45/75 (33)).
Berwick was, at the time of this incident, in
English hands and Master John de Westoné held the

title of chamberlain of Scotland from the King

of England.



A further fourteenth century reference, the
exact date of which is uncertain, mentions that
a piece of land held by a man named Richard, was
next to the school beside Holy Trinity Church. (1)

From all these pieces of evidence some tentative
conclusions may perhaps be advanced. It seems that
at least one school, giving elementary education as
well as religious teaching, had been established in
the town from early times, and it was apparently
conducted by an able master who wgs connectedwith
the Church of Holy Trinity. The few documentary
references that have survived fall within periods
both of Scottish amd English rule in Bepwick and
no serious disruption of education seems to have
occurred. Remembering the town's prosperity and
the success of some of its sons, especially the de
Bernhams, this mode of education was probably
effective at both elementary and higher levels.
This latter claim is supported by a-single ﬁiece of
evidence from 1313, when the Council of King Edward

IT made inquiries into an arrest of several "hostile

1 "iuxta scolas contra ecclesiam sancte trinitatis®

(Liver Cartarum Prioratus Sancti Andree...

(Bannatyne Club, 1841), 343).
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Scots from beyond seas". Six young men, including
one named Jordan of Berwick, "who said they were
studying in the schools of Paris and on their way
home", had been arrested in the home of Robert de
Munceux, the Mayor of London's macer, and committed
to the Tower. (1) The result of the enquiry and
the fate of the young men are unfortunately not
disclosed,

All evidence of education in Berwick ceases from
this point in the early fourteenth century until the
reign of King Edward VI, and indeed the general
history of Berwick in this period is much less well
documented, but there is no reason to assume that
education ceased, or that it passed from the hgnds
of the clergy.

The Guild apparently played no part at all in
mediaeval education, or at least no trace of its

influence remains. (2) Neither the thirteenth

1 Joseph Bain, Calendar of Documents relating to

Scotland, III, 1307-1357 (1887), no. 327.

2 The Berwick Guild of mercéhants, whose members are

known as Freemen or Burgesses, from early times
controlled the local government of the town, its

trade and industry.  Membership was rewarding and

exclusive and might normally be obtained by

14



? patrimony, apprenticeship or purchase.
was open only to men. Non-freemen were

often known as "stallengers".

It

15



16

century "Statuta Gildae", nor any of Berwick's
many Royal Charters, nor any of the Guild Books
from 1505 to 1553 mention the keeping of a school,
or the presence of a teacher in the town.

The first evidence of the Guild's interest occurs
at a meeting held on the 10th February 1552/3 when
the members recorded in their minutes: "Also we ar
desyrus to have A scole master Alowed in this kynges
matiesties towne of Barwike." (1) Their wish was
ultimately granted, for om 2l1st March 1554/5 it is
stated that "For the answrynge of the skwll mastar
consarnynge his Fee we well that mastar mayor and
mastar Aldarmane shall paye hyme Feffty shellynges
For thes qwartar paste wyche is the Fwrst qwartar."
This schoolmaster seems to have left the town quite
soon, for on the 1l2th October 1555, when the Guild
chose as their Member of Parliament an important
burgess named Thomas Bradforth, they instructed him

"to speke to the dene (2) comsar 0] ynge the kepene

1 Guild Book, 1508-68, under 10 Feb. 1552/3. All
subseqnent references to decisions of the Guild
are to be found in the main series of Guild Books
under the date given, unless otherwise stated.

2 The Dean of Durham.
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of a skowll in Berwyke and for a larnyd mane to
mantyne the Same."

Although it might be easy to overestimate the
importance of this evidence, it seems significant
that the Guild's first recorded interest in education
comes shortly after the Edwardian reforms of the
Church which included the dissolution of the chantrigs
attached to Holy Trinity Church following the Act of
1 Edward VI. Very little is known of the activities
of the Berwick chantry priests, but.the teaching of
scholars may have been among their duties. |

The problem of providing schools in Berwick in
Elizabeth's.reign was greatly aggravated by the
resumption of hostilities between England and Scotland.
The Privy Council decided to proceed at once with
plans for refortifying the town and hundreds of
skilled masons, carpenters and labourers were drafted
to Berwick from all parts of England. During and
after this period of construction Berwick's garrison
was very large, and, lacking barracks, the men were
billeted at inns and in private houses. Many settled
with their families and must have increased the
strain on schools and teachers.

The Guilld seems in this period to have drawn back

from the task of employing schoolmasters, instead
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supervising those who, on their own initiative,

or with Government encouragement, came to the

town to set up schools. The most famous of these
later sixteenth century schoolmasters was Aristotle
Knowsley, who began his long career in Berwick about
1570, and was described in the Parish Burial Register
on 17th October 1628 as a pensioner and schoolmaster.
In 1611, when he applied for the reversion of his
‘pension of 12d. per day to his son, it was stated
that he had been schoolmaster of Berwick for forty
years. (1) The pension referred to was paid to him
by the Government, presumably for his work in teaching
the garrison children.

Knowsley's school musf also have admitted the
children of townspeople, for the Guild on 20th
September 1604 paid him their highest honour by
admitting him "to this fredome gratis in“regard of
his longe contynewénce & paynes taken with youthk in
bringinge them upp in Learninge & Vertue." Two
months later, on the 22nd November 1604 they went

further and ordered that "a lease shall be made to Mr.

1 Calendar of State Papers, Domestic, James I,

1611-1618 (1858), 59.




19

Aristotle Knowesley of that house now used for

a scholehouse with the: yard. or ground: thereunto
belonginge in his occupacion for the: terme of x1
yeres from michaelmas last for the yerelie: Rente:
of.xijdﬁ and: that the said Mr. Knowesley shall
kepe the premisses in Reparacion." (1) This lease
was not in fact sealed until 28th September 1608
when the above terms were confirmed, with the
additional information that the "Coggoor water
spring" was at the east end: of the yard belonging
fa the house, Mr. Knowsley then probably settled
back into honourable retirement in Berwick, and ke
certainlys took an active part in the work of the
Freemen, attending Guild. meetings until 1627, the
year before his deafh.

A contemporary of Aristotle Knowsley was Mr. John
Parke upon whom the Guild. also conferred the free-
dom of the borough on 20th September 1604 "in
regard of his great care he hath of bringinge upp
yonge children & youth in teachinge fhem & setteinge

them on worke to knitt & spinne." The Freemen,

1 This property was probably on the west side

of Lower Ravensdowne. See p.266.
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however, did not regard Mr. Parke quite so highly
as Mr. Knowsley for "in regarde thereof the guild
accepts a small fyne of the somme of fyve marks
for his admittance.”

The presence of|an "indugtrial school" in Berwick
at this date is interesting, as an addition to the
normal system of apprenticeship, but it does not
seem to have survived the time of Mr. Parke, and
the idea of providing vocational training in a
school is not mentioned again in Guild until 1753. (1)
Like Aristotle Knowsley, John Parke accepted fully
the responsibilities of his freedom and attended
Guild meetings until 1628. From then until his
death in 1638 or 1639 (2) he was excused attendance
on the grounds of age, and on the 25th January
1632/% the Guild granted him a pension of 4 marks
per annum, payable quarterly, in view of his
advancéd; years and the poverty in which he was

living.

1 Minute of 10th August 1753 (Guild Book, 1752-60).
2 The Guild Roll of 1638-9 marks Parke as "mort."
(Guild Book, 1627-43).




Although Aristotle Knowsley and John Parke are
the only Elizabethan schoolmasters whose names have
survived, they were by no means the only teachers
to keep schools in sixteenth century Berwick. 1In
1577 there must have been at least one other for
the Visitation Books show Berwick in that year as
possessing three schools, (1) and by the end of
the century the Guild was showing concern about
the number and the type of men who were coming to
the town to teach. In the first Bailiffs' Court
Book a presentment of 22nd March 1592/3 states:
"Itm we find and present that none ought to Sett
upp skoole to teache children oneles first fhey
be duelye examined and orderlye lisensed by Mr.
Mayor and the preachers." This was repeated in two
later presentments, one on the 13%th March 1598/9

and the other, in the second Bailiffs' Court Book,

1 "in 1577, there were Schoolmasters only in the
following places‘in this county, viz. at
Corbridge 1, Alston 1, Morpeth 2, Wooedhorn 1,
Alnwick 1, Berwick 3, St. Nicholas', Newcastle
4, All Saints 5, St. John's 1, St. Andrew's 1
(Visit. Books)." (John Hodgson, History of

Northumberland, Part III, III (1835), xlix,

footnote 'e!').

21



on the 6th March 1599/1600. (1) Such reminders
could clearly not have been aimed at Knowsley
or Parke, who were already well established and
respected in the town, but must refer to others
who were coming to Berwick to profit from the
need for schools.

The Bailiffs' Court Books also reflect the
problem of enforcing church attendance, especially
as the only church, Holy Trinity, was small and
in very poor condition. (2) A presentment drawn
up between the 23rd October and the 5th December
1594 complains of this neglect of religious
observance, and declares that the Captains are
to see that the soldiers attend, the Churchwardens
are to search the inns and alehouses, and "the
schole maisters are to be admonished to take
better order with there schollers for they

suffer them to playe & keepe misrule abroad aboute

1 There are two Bailiffs' Court Books in the
Berwick Archives, the second of which is a
fragment and very fragile.

2 Calendar of Border Papers, I (1894), no. 240,

section 10, and II (1896), no. 892; W.W.

Tomlinson, Life in Northumberland during the

Sixteenth Century, (1897), 143.
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the churche, which is pitye to be suffered." (1)
By 1613 the Guild was again showing an active
interest in the provision of education in Berwick
and for the first time the idea of establishing a
free Grammar School in the town was discussed. (2)
The reaéon for this is not clear, but perhaps it
may lie in one or more of the following circum-
stances: first, Grammar Schools were developing
most successfully in England and Northumberland

already had three, at Newcastle, Morpeth and
Alnwick (3); secondly Mr. Knowsley had retired;

1l This admonition is repeated in an undated
presentment in the second Bailiffs' Court
Book. As it is Elizabethan, and follows the
presentment of the 6th March 1599/1600, it
probably falls within the years 1601 to 1603.

2 At the meeting of 17th November 1617 it was
stated that at a Guild held on 15th January
1612/1% bonds promised by Sir Robert Jackson
for giving money for the school had been dis-
cussed and drawn up (Guild Book, 1615-27).
The minutes do not survive from 1611 to 1615.

3 W.W. Tomlinson, Life in Northumberland during

the Sixteenth Century (1897), 154-~5.
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thirdly, with the Union of the Crowns in 1603
the garrison had been greatly reduced, thus
restoring to the Guild the main responsibility
for ordering the town's affairs; (1) and finally,
the granting of the James I Charter in 1604 had
given the Guild renewed confidence and pride in
Berwick and in their own rdle in furthering:; the
town's prosperity.

On the 16th August 1615 the Guild, having agreed
earlier that a Grammar School shoulld be founded as
soon as possible, declared that "Whereas there is a
great quantitie of the groundes belonginge to this
Burrowghe next adioyninge to Scottland called the
Cocklawe and other the groundes nere thereunto

which yeald litle or noe benefytt to the Towne,

1 During the crises of Elizabeth's reign the
Governor of Berwick, as commander of the huge
garrison and Warden of the East March, had
wielded great power, ruling the town through
the Council which comprised the military and
civilian leaders. Although the Guild had a
voice in the Council, and could and did petition
the Crown directly, its powers were much
subordinated to the needs of the Governor and

garrison.
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This Towne haveing occation towardes the Erection
of a free Gramer Schoole to make upp an estate of
xxxli’ per annum Towardes the mayntenence of the
same have thought good, And this day by a generall
Consent of the Gwild have Concluded and Established
this Order Vidz. That by the vewe and Valuacion of
six of the Auntient Aldermen and Twelve of the

Rest of the body of the said Burrowghe a lease
shalbe Graunted by the Towne of somuch of the said
ground[ s] as shall ammount to the yearly Rent of
xxxli' per annum t0 such personne or personns free
of this Corporacion (as will give most for the same)
for the terme of xltie [years] or under. Under such
Covenauntes and [————————] the Towne shalbe thought
fyttinge." (1)

No further mention is made of this lease and it
was probably never drawn up, for by 1617 the
tentative plans made for founding the school were
being abandoned for lack of funds. On the 2nd

February 1616/7 the Freemen regretfully discharged

1 (Draft Guild Book, 1614-15. The volume is
unbound and very fragile). It is typical of
the Guild that, in securing £30 per annum for
the school, they also intended to make a profit

for their own revenues.
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the assistant master chosen to begin the school,
explaining that "Mr. Francis Turner was sent
hither to be usher for the then intended free
schoole, And for asmuch that the same could not
yett goe forward by reason of want of sufficient
means to establish the same, yett notwithstanding
in somuch as he was here along tyme and lost his
tyme at the universitty, Therefore the Towne was
content to give him a Gratuitty of Twenty pounds
which Mr. Maior shall have Allowance of in his
Accompt."

On the 17th February 1616/7 the Guild ordered
that a house given by Mr. Matthew Jéhnson, late
of Berwick, "towards the building of free Schoole",
should be handed over to Jane and Margaret Johnson,
daughters of the late Symon Johnson, who were
presumably the heirs of Mr. Matthew Johnson.
Later that year, on 10th October 1617, the Guild
also decided to hand back all the money subscribed
for the school to the donors "provided that those
to whome the moneye shalbe-repayd shall enter into
bond that if In Case the sayd free Schoole be
erected at any tyme within these five Yeares
they shall paye backe all such money repayd unto

them with the Interest thereof." At a meeting




on the 17th Noyember it was revealed that the amount
to be repaid was £159-10-0.

This ended the first attempt to establish a free
Grammar School in Berwick, but the idea was only
postponed, not abandoned. Meanwhile private enter-
prise continued to flourish, though not always to
the Guild's satisfaction as the minute of 13th July
1621 shows: "Wheras the schollers of the severall
scooles of the towne in tyme of devyne service &
sermons doe disperse themselivesinto severall places
& Corners of the Cﬁurch & ther by disorder doe
much disquiett the wholl congregacion Therfore
It is ordered that a convenyent place shalbe
provided for them where they may all sitt in
uniformitie and a sufficient man to be appoynted
to keepe them in good order att the discretion of
Mr. Maior."

To summarise or comment generally upon the
development of education in Berwick to 1630 is
no easy task. At first it seems to have been the
responsibility of the Church, but from the mid-
sixteenth century the work of the ‘clergy was
apparently replaced by the efforts of individual
teachers to create successfud schools. The

Guild's role throughout seems minor, that of the
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critic, not the innovator, until at last the
idea of establishing a Grammar School aroused
the burgesses to action. ZILimited by lack of
funds the plan was at first abandoned, but it
was soon to be revived to begin the long and
successful story of the Guild's contribution

to education.
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CHAPTER TWO
THE WORK OF THE GUILD TO 1800

a) The Latin Grammar School

Despite the earlier lack of success the Guild
had not renounced the hope of founding a free
Grammar School in Berwick, and a neﬁ effort was
begun in 1632, when, on 5th October, it was
announced that a London gentleman was willing
to give £100 towards the erection of such a
school., The offer was accepted, and the Guild
resolved to try once again to raise the necessary
sums of money. |

As a temporary measure the Guild agreed, on 25th
January 1632/%, "upon the peticion of Mf. John
Jackson That he shall have libertie to keep a
Ilattine schoole in this place, & to teach children,
& for that hé proffers to teach burgesses children
gratis therfor this guild is content he shall have
yearly paid him ten poundes by 1% a quarter, forth
of the towne chamber, dureing the townes pleasure,
and he to goe on in that imployment with all
convenientie, the first quarters payment of
which xli' per annum to begin & be paid at the

Lady day next & he to begin schoole before the

sixth day of february next."




On 9th and 27th May 1634 the Guild asked Sir
Robert Jackson and the Mayor of'Berwick to ride
to London on various matters of Guild business,
and to petition the King "that libertie may be
graunted for establishing a free schoole in this
Towne." At the second of. these meetings the
Freemen also began to plan the gathering in of
local subscriptions, and agreed to order "that
everie burges who by abilitie is able to give
Twentie shillings towards the rerecting and
~ founding of a free schoole in this Town if
libertie may be graunted for the same and will
not willingly and freely givé his said money,
shalbe debarred of all benefitt theirby ariseing
untill he shall condiscend to give the same,
before the establishment of the said free schoole."
By the 25th July 1634 the Mayor was able to tell
the Guild that several inhabitants of London had
promised donations, andit was therefore agreed
that all burgesses' contributions should be paid
in to the Guild on 15th September next, so that
the plans could proceed. Unfortunately many
freemen failed to pay their subscriptions on the
date set, and on 1lO0th October the Guild issued a

new order, that the promised contributions must be
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paid by the Head Guild after Christmas. (1)

At this point for some reason all plgns for the
school seem to have been suspended, and no further
mention is made in the Guild Books of school or
subscriptions for eight years. Only one piece of
evidence, in 1638, indicates that the Guild were
still endeavouring to establish a Grammar School.
In March of that year King Charles had written to
the Mayor and Burgesses asking that the houses in
the Palace (2) and a storehouse should either be
surrendered to him or be repaired by the
Corporation for the town's use. On 25th Ma& 1638
the Mayor, John Saltonstall, instructed Sir Robert
Jackson and others to petition the King, stating
that all the houses in the Palace were in good

repair and had been leased out by the Town for many

1l "Head Guild", i.e. quarterly meeting of the Guild.

2 The Palace was in the south east corner of the
town, often known as the Ness, in which the main
garrison administrative buildings and storehouses

were situated.
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years to come, and pointing out that "Some of
those houses are intended for a house for a
schoolmaster for a free school, and the rest
for good use for the town's besti.advantage." (1)

On 22nd April 1642 it was again agreed to ask Sir
Robert Jackson to help to secure thg establishment
of the Free School, but once again without result.
Perhaps the reason for this delay lay in the
success being achieved by the Latin School of Mr.
John Jakkson, who had begun teaching in 1633, and
by whom the Burgesses' children were taught free of
charge, or perhaps the cause lay in anxiety over
the outcome of the struggles between King and
Parliament.

One .boy, most probably a pupil of Mr. Jackson,
presented a very unusual problem to the Guild in

August 1644 (2):"This Day William Dixson did

1 Calendar of State Papers, Domestic, Charles I,

1637-1638 (1869), 456-7.
2 Probably 1lst August 1644. The date has been

damaged.
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peticion this guild declareing that by gods
providence he being deprived of his sight att
the age of foure yeares by which he was prevented
of attaineing any trade or occupacion, yet being
kept ever since att schoole is now by gods good
assistance fitted in some manner for the
university, & therefore & for diverse other
reasons, did moét humbly pray this guild to

| exhibit some small meanes for the space of Foure

yeares dureing his aboade att the University in

Scotland towards his Maintaineance in the course of

his studyes & the procureing of one boy to attend
him there. Upon due Consideracion whereof had by

this guild It is by Generall Consent thereof

thought fitt & so hereby ordered That an alloweance

of 411' per annum shalbe granted unto him for the
space of Foure Yeares, to be paid him quarterly
towards his Maintaineance according to the tenore

of his said peticion made to that effect." (1)

1l This grant was paid regularly, as may be seen

for example in the record of the meetings of

13th February 1645/6, lst June and 25th September
1646. An allowance of £4 p.a. was later paid to
& William Dixon, probably the same man, from 1667

to 1696, and this seems to have been a grant not

a salary (Treasurers' Books).
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The plan to build the Free School was revived on
3rd October 1645 when Sir Robert Jackson offered
£10 per annum for ever towards the school provided
it was set afoot within a year. The Mayor, John
Sleigh, immediately offered to give £20, and the
majority of the Guild promised contributions
according to their means. On 16th January 1645/6
the Guild agreed to write to Thomas Davison, their
agent in London, to canvas Berwick burgesses
resident in London for subscriptions, and decided
to appoint four of the most senior Freemen in
Berwick to contact all the Guild members living in
the town who had so far failed to sign papers
promising donations.

The subscriptions promised must to the Guild have
seemed adequate, for they soon began to consider the
plan in more detail. On 6th February 1645/6 the
Freemen agreed "That such as are appointed for the
Free Schoole here shall have the benefitt of
Countrey Gentlemens Children & such as are not
Burgesses in this Towne & have not Contributed And
that Sixty pownds sterling per annum shallbe
Confirmed to him dureing the Townes pleasure .he

provideing (with the Townes approbacion) an able
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Usher for himselfe which some of Sixty pownds
per annum is to be appointed towards the main-
tainance of a free schoole here for ever." The
Guild, at the same meeting, appointed a sub-
committee to collect the promised donations by
Lady Day (25th March) and "to viewe the house
now iﬁ suite Betweene Mr. Blaxton & Mr. Clerke
scituate in Churchyaird for that end [i.e. for
use as the school] & to cause the same be forth-
with repared at the Towﬁes Charges & the R%.
owner to allowe the repares & to be .satisfied
the yearely rent as in equity shallbe thought
reasonable."

Immediate steps were taken to put these
decisions into practice, and by the 18th February
the Guild were able to refuse the request of a
Mr. Paterson to be appointed master of the school
on the grounds that they were already negotiating
for a suitable candidate. The main burden seems
to have fallen on Mr. Davison, the London agent,
as on 17th Abril 1646 a letter was ordered to be
sent to him confirming that the salary for master
and usher was to be £60 per annum "with such

Accomodacion as privat..- Burgesses have here in
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the feilds Togither with foure Ackrees of Meadowe
as Balliffs for the yeare have ...."

At the same meeting it was reported that suitable
premises for the school were being sought, and by
25rd July the sub-committee members were still
viewing houses. It became clear that this was no
simple task and it was agreed that temporary
arrangements would have fo be tolerated at first.

On 11th August 1646 the Guild ordered "That such
persons as come here as Master to our Free Schooll
shall only teach the princip1es of Religion &
humane learneing as lattine Greeke & heBrew.
Secondly That he shall have the Choyce of his owne
Usher. Thirdly That there shalbe a Convenient
house provided for himselfe & familly & that the
Outer Ile of thé Church shall for present be made
use of for a Schooll & Jemmema Rotherams house
att Churchyard thought fitt for the Master untill
further Conveniency be gott, & accordingly the
owner of the said house to be spoke withall to
that purpose. Fourthly That his meanes shalbe
paid unto him halfe yearely after his entry (vizt)

sixty pounds per annum for himselfe & Usher ...."




By the end of August the negotiations to find an
able master had been concluded and Mr. William Webb
had been invited to come to Berwick to teach in the
new School. His qualities were warmly praised in
letters to the Guild, especially in one from Rev.
John Jemmatt, a former preacher in Berwick, who
wrote "And truely might I have had the libertie to
have Chosen out of all the scoliers that I know a
scoollmaister for my beloved Barwicke this whom
God now sendeth you Mr. William Webb is the man I
should have Chosen, of small stature indeéde but
of greate worth upon my experience, he is very
skillfull both in the lattine Greeke & Hebrue, very
dilligent & painfull about them he undertaketh to
teach, sober, single hearted, humble, gbdly, prayer
some, this you may assure your brethren and your
owne heart from me & experience will I doubt not,

€onfirm my testimony." (1)

1 Letter Book, 1646-1765. Also there, see letter
praising Mr. Webb written by George Paylor to
the Guild, 25th Aﬁgust 1646. Summaries of some
of these letters are printed in Historical

Manuscripts Commission, Report on Manuscripts

in Various Collections, I ¢1901), 15-16.
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On 25th August 1646 Mf. Thomas Davison wrote to
tell the Guild that Mr. Webb was on his way by sea
to Newcastle, and on 30th September the-Guild
replied "Mr. Webb our schoollmaster is now safely
come to this place. Wee shall endeavour to give
him all possible encouragement. he intendeth on
Munday next to begin to teach." (1) Mr. Webb met
the Guild at their meeting on Friday 2nd October
and on Monday 5th October 1646 the Free Grammar
School at long last was opened. (2)

Money for the school came in steadily during the
latter part of 1646, but by 3rd March 1646/7 the
senior Freemen were pressing those members who had
failed to pay. The school was still being
conducted in the Church, and the Guild were
naturally anxious to have the money available for

better accommodation as soon as possible. (3)

1 Letter Book, 1646-1765.

2 Ibid. In a letter from the Guild to Mr. Davison
dated 6th October 1646, it was stated that "Mr.
Webb begun his teaching in this Towne yesterday."

3 The meetings of the Guild at which lists of sub-
scriitions were recorded are too numerous to

mention separately. They are to be found between

2nd October 1646 and 16th April 1649.
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On 8th February 1646/7 the Guild ordered the
payment of Mr. Webb's salary and decided to move
the school into better surroundings. They asked
Mr. Webb to go to see "the Governors house & the
Convenientest of the Roomes & accordingly to be
fitted for the Free School." The school may have
moved again in the following year, for on 3rd
February 1647/8 the Guild made an agreement with
Mr. John Burgis "for the house:& Freé Schooll
where Mr. Willm. Webb now liveth," at a rent of
twenty shillings per annum from Candlemas last,
the lease to continue at the Town's pleasure.

On the other hand, this may have been the formal
leasing of that part of Governor'é House which was

suitable for the school.

Perhaps this problem of finding suitable premises
discouraged Mr. Webb, for on 3rd February 1647/8
he told the Guild "That he could not ingage him
selfe to stay dureing his life ...." On 19th May
1648 the Guild granted him three acres of meadow,
apparently in addition to their original promise
of four acres, possibly as an inducement to him to
stay in Berwick. If such was the intention it
failed. On 2nd June 1648 the position was stated

in Guild in gloomy terms: "Whereas by the departure




of Mr. Willm. Webb the Free Schooll is for peesent
destitute of one to teach the Children here, It is
Therefore ordered That Mr. Francis Crow the Usher
shalbe spoke withall & entreated to Continue his
paines in teaching the schollers & in keepeing them
togither either untill Mr. Webbs returne or some
other able man be provided in his place, & that
his paines shalbe Considered by the Towne." 1In
addition it was agreed that they should send .a
letter to Mr. Webb, enclosed in one to Mr. William
Wilson, asking him his whereabouts, whether he
intended to return, and what his opinion was of
the fitness of his Usher, Mr. Crow.

Apparently the Guild was satisfied by the reply,
and on 19th June 1648 they ordered "That a'letter
shalbe sent to Mr. Webb desireing his Continuance
as our schoolmaster & to entreat his resolucion
in returneing to us." His return wés longiin coming,
however, and on 14th August Mr. Francis Craw [Crdw]
informed the Guild that he was to leave Berwick.
The Guild agreed to pay him £7 10s. for his work
since Mr. Webb's departure, and succeeded in

persuading Mr. Gilbert Dury, a former Vicar of
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